In The United States Court of Appeals For the Fourth Circuit

Edward F. Maracich, Martha L. Weeks, and John C. Tanner, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Appellants,

v.

Michael Eugene Spears, Michael Spears, P.A., Gedney M. Howe, III, Gedney M. Howe, III, P.A., Richard A. Harpootlian, Richard A. Harpootian, P.A., A. Camden Lewis, and Lewis & Babock, LLP,

Appellees,

ON APPEAL FROM THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH CAROLINA AT SPARTANBURG

REPLY BRIEF OF THE APPELLANTS

Philip N. Elbert James G. Thomas W. David Bridgers Elizabeth S. Tipping NEAL & HARWELL, PLC 150 Fourth Ave. N., Suite 2000 Nashville, TN 37219 (615) 244-1713 (Office) (615) 726-0573 (Fax) Counsel for Appellants Gary L. Compton 296 Daniel Morgan Avenue Spartanburg, SC 29306 (864) 583-5186 (Office) (864) 585-0139 (Fax)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARGUMEN	NT	
I.	Notwithstanding Their Protestations To The Contrary, There Is No Evidence In The Record To Support The Lawyers' Contention That The "Litigation" Or The "State Action" Exceptions Apply To What They Did	4
	A. The "Litigation Exception" Did Not Excuse the Lawyers' Actions.	7
	B. The "State Action Exception" Did Not Excuse The Lawyers' Actions.	
II.	The Lawyers' Final Three "Issues" Are Without Merit	
CONCLUS	ION	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Bailey v. Daniels, 679 F. Supp. 2d 713 (W.D. La. 2009)	. 10, 11, 12
Exxon Mobil Corp. v. Allapattah Servs., Inc., 545 U.S. 546 (2005)	
Gonzales v. Raich, 545 U.S. 1 (2005)	
Harrods Ltd. v. Sixty Internet Domain Names, 302 F.3d 214 (4th Cir. 2002)	5,6
<i>Kehoe v. Fid. Fed. Bank & Trust</i> , 421 F.3d 1209 (11 th Cir. 2005)	10, 17
Manso v. Santamarina & Assocs., No. 04 Civ. 10276, 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 7316 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 26, 2005)	10, 11
Pichler v. UNITE, 542 F.3d 380 (3d Cir. 2008)	. 10, 16, 17
Pichler v. UNITE, 585 F.3d 741 (3d Cir. 2009), cert. denied sub nom. Nat'l Right to Work Legal Def. Found., Inc. v. UNITE, 178 L. Ed. 2d 22 (Oct. 4, 2010)	9, 10
Ratzlaf v. United States, 510 U.S. 135 (1994)	
Reno v. Condon, 528 U.S. 141 (2000)	
Rine v. Imagitas, Inc., 590 F.3d 1215 (11th Cir. 2009) 12	, 13, 14, 15
<i>Rios v. Direct Mail Express, Inc.</i> , 435 F. Supp. 2d 1199 (S.D. Fla. 2006)	16
State ex rel. Condon v. Hodges, 562 S.E.2d 623 (S.C. 2002)	13, 14
Sutton v. Roth, LLC, 361 Fed. Appx. 543 (4th Cir. 2010)	6
Wemhoff v. District of Columbia, 887 A.2d 1004 (D.C. 2005)	
Wickard v. Filburn, 317 U.S. 111 (1942)	

Statutes and Rules

18 U.S.C. § 2721	
18 U.S.C. § 2722	
18 U.S.C. § 2724	
S.C. Code Ann. § 56-15-40(5)	

The Lawyer-Appellees have briefed a case they think they can defend, rather than the case that is actually presented on this record. The Lawyers devote the first eight pages of their argument to explaining why the Drivers incorrectly "demanded" that the Lawyers meet the "bulk solicitation" exception, assuming the Lawyers met the "state action" and "litigation" exceptions. That argument is ridiculous. The Driver-Appellants have never "demanded" that the Lawyers have more than one exception under which to travel. But, they did need *at least one* exception that applied, and they *had none*.

The "bulk solicitation" exception does not come into play in this case because none of the people to whom the Lawyers sent solicitation letters consented, as expressly required by the Act, to the release of their Personal Information so that it could be used to put together a mailing list for a bulk mail advertising campaign. The problem for the Lawyers is that none of the other exceptions to the DPPA apply to what they did either.

The express provisions of the DPPA that address bulk solicitation bear mention in this context because they make clear the intent of the drafters. The fact that Congress wrote the Act to require the written consent of a driver or car buyer as a precondition to the release of information for use in bulk mail solicitations makes clear that Congress did not intend a construction of any other exception that would permit use of DPPA-protected information to facilitate bulk solicitation without the drivers' consent. In other words, the fact that Congress included a consent requirement in the provisions of the Act which expressly addresses bulk mail solicitation suggests that Congress did not intend the other exceptions the Lawyers invoke be interpreted in a way that would subvert this requirement. Consistent with this observation, courts have been careful not to expand the application of other exceptions to the Act to authorize the use of DPPA-protected information to send out advertisements for new clients.

The failure of the Lawyer-Appellees to comply with the express consent requirement of the "bulk solicitation" exception cannot *in this case* be excused by application of the "state action exception" or the "litigation exception" because neither of these exceptions applies to the use by an attorney in private practice of DPPA-protected information to solicit business. The "state action exception" does not apply because it is limited by its express terms to situations in which a state agency or a private party acting on behalf of a state agency seeks access to DMV records. The "litigation exception" does not apply because the Lawyers in this case were advertising for customers, not seeking evidence for use in a case.

No court except the District Court in this case has permitted the acquisition, use and/or disclosure of DPPA-protected information for such a purpose. Every other court that has considered the issue has recognized the clear distinction to be drawn between the use of DPPA-protected information to facilitate a bulk direct

mail advertising campaign by a lawyer and the use of information obtained from DMV files as evidence or to develop evidence for a case. There is no "for use by lawyers because we are special" exception to the DPPA. Every other court has correctly held that lawyers have no more right to use DPPA-protected information to solicit business than does a credit card company or an insurance agency.

Cognizant of the lack of textual support and precedent for the expansion of the litigation exception they propose, the District Court and the Lawyers seek to pretermit this issue by positing that what the Lawyers did was not "solicitation." To the contrary, the purpose of the letters the Lawyers sent out is manifest. The letters were denominated "Advertising Material," they described in express terms the services the Lawyers were offering, and they invited a call to discuss representation. The Lawyers were not looking for evidence to use in a lawsuit. They were looking for clients. Lest there be any question regarding the Lawyers' purpose in this regard, the Affidavit of Driver Tanner is in the Record. When he, as a recipient of one of the letters, called the Lawyers, he was not asked what he knew; he was told what he would get if he hired the Lawyers to sue the dealer from whom he had purchased his vehicle. He was not told the Lawyers represented his interests; he was asked to retain the Lawyers so that they could get money for him. The District Court ignored this and the other evidence, refused to permit any discovery, and granted the Lawyers summary judgment based on a finding of fact that no solicitation had occurred, despite having nothing more substantial to cite in support of this finding than the unsworn argument of the Lawyers' counsel in the briefs. That ruling cannot stand.

ARGUMENT

I. Notwithstanding Their Protestations To The Contrary, There Is No Evidence In The Record To Support The Lawyers' Contention That The "Litigation" Or The "State Action" Exceptions Apply To What They Did.

The Solicitation Letters demonstrate their purpose on their face. The letters proclaimed that they were "ADVERTISING MATERIAL." (JA at 329, 487, 492, 494, 497, 499.) In the letters, the Lawyers sought "the opportunity to discuss [the recipients'] rights and options" in free consultations and invited the recipients to contact them if they were "interested in participating in the case or in a free consultation." (Id.) The Lawyers admit that they sent these letters to find car buyers to pursue claims in the *Herron* litigation, and that as a result of the letters, they were able to sign up hundreds of new clients. (JA at 185-86 ¶¶ 56, 61-62, 64.) The letters even included all of the statements required by South Carolina Rule of Professional Conduct 7.3(d) in written communications soliciting professional employment, including the suggestion that: "You may wish to consult your lawyer or another lawyer instead of us. . . . If you have already engaged a lawyer in connection with the legal matter referred to in this communication,

you should direct any questions you have to that lawyer." (JA at 329, 487, 492, 494, 497, 499.)

Faced with the simple truth conveyed by the Solicitation Letters themselves, the Lawyers (or perhaps more accurately, their counsel) have proposed a number of explanations for their actions. They claim that the statements required by the Rules of Professional Conduct were included in the letters "in an effort to be prudently cautious." They claim that the letters were sent to protect "the interests of unnamed Consumers." They claim that the letters were "not sent in an effort to create new relationships or to drum up new business." Perhaps most telling vis-à-vis all of these explanations, however, is the fact that none of the Lawyers was apparently willing to swear to their veracity. In the court below, the Lawyers submitted no affidavits or declarations regarding their intent, and prevented any discovery into that area through the stay the District Court had issued at their insistence.¹

¹ The Lawyers assert that the District Court was correct in depriving the Drivers of any discovery, citing to a comment by Drivers' counsel that he believed it might be possible to proceed with summary judgment motions despite the stay imposed at the Lawyers' request. However, the Lawyers fail to point out to the Court that counsel had repeatedly advised the District Court in the same discussion that he could not determine whether discovery would be necessary without seeing the Lawyers' motion. (JA at 199-201.) The Lawyers further claim that the Drivers have waived this argument by failing to move for a continuance, citing to cases from the Fifth and Sixth Circuit. Under Fourth Circuit law, however, there is no requirement for such a motion. In fact, "when the nonmoving party, through no fault of its own, has had little or no opportunity to conduct discovery, and when

Leaving aside for a moment the question of whether the solicitation was permitted under the DPPA, there can be no doubt that these letters were sent for the purpose of solicitation. This purpose is evident both from the language of the letters themselves and from the results obtained. Although further proof of this purpose is unnecessary, the purpose was confirmed by Lawyer Harpootlian when Driver Tanner contacted his office to inquire about the Solicitation Letter. (*See* JA at 1448.) Lawyer Harpootlian did not ask Mr. Tanner for information or to be a witness. (*Id.* at 1448 ¶¶ 6, 8.) Instead, Lawyer Harpootlian aggressively tried to sign Mr. Tanner up as a client. (*Id.* at 1448 ¶ 6.)

Rather than following the summary judgment requirement that "the nonmoving party's evidence is to be believed, and all justifiable inferences are to be drawn in that party's favor," the District Court rejected the plain language of the Solicitation Letters, ignored Mr. Tanner's affidavit, and accepted the Lawyers' unsworn explanations as fact in concluding that there had been no solicitation. That finding, which was improperly based on unsupported arguments and hearsay,

fact-intensive issues, such as intent, are involved, courts have not always insisted on a Rule 56(f) affidavit if the nonmoving party has adequately informed the district court that the motion is premature and that more discovery is necessary." *Harrods Ltd. v. Sixty Internet Domain Names*, 302 F.3d 214, 244-45 (4th Cir. 2002) (reversing summary judgment despite failure to even file Rule 56(f) affidavit); *see also Sutton v. Roth, LLC*, 361 Fed. Appx. 543, 548-50 (4th Cir. 2010) (same).

was essential to the District Court's conclusion that the Lawyers did not violate the DPPA.

A. The "Litigation Exception" Did Not Excuse the Lawyers' Actions.

Although the Lawyers spend a substantial portion of their Brief attempting to explain why their Solicitation Letters fell within the "litigation exception" of the DPPA, they carefully avoid the fact that the District Court improperly relied upon the Lawyers' unsupported arguments and unauthenticated attachments to reach its conclusion that the exception applied to their actions. In fact, their continued reliance on these arguments suggests that they do not believe there is any requirement that an award of summary judgment be based on admissible evidence.² To the contrary, however, the lower court's award of summary judgment on this basis was reversible error.

² The Lawyers even go so far as to argue that just because they cited the "litigation exception" in their FOIA requests and the SCDMV provided the requested information based on this representation, this "eliminates Plaintiffs' claim of an impermissible purpose." This circular reasoning carries no more weight than would an argument that an exception applies simply because the Lawyers say so, and it certainly does not demonstrate that the "litigation exception" applies to their actions. Notably absent from the requests to the SCDMV was the explanation that the Lawyers were concerned that the lawsuit they had filed against hundreds of car dealers might be dismissed because they had no clients with standing to sue those car dealers. (*See* JA at 206-09, 211-12, 236-46, 322-23, 325, 327.) Also absent from the requests was the explanation that the Lawyers would be using the Personal Information to locate other potential plaintiffs and solicit their business. (*See id.*)

Moreover, the Lawyers' attempts to distinguish the clear law holding that this exception does not authorize lawyers to use federally-protected Personal Information to solicit clients are unavailing. The Lawyers first try to distinguish their solicitations from those that the attorney made in *Wemhoff v. District of Columbia*, 887 A.2d 1004 (D.C. 2005), suggesting that there is a material difference between the class action that attorney Wemhoff had filed without a plaintiff and the claims against 316 car dealers the Lawyers filed without plaintiffs but then joined to the claims of their eight clients in the *Herron* litigation.

This place-holding of claims against 316 car dealers by joining them to the claims against the eight car dealers from whom their named plaintiffs had purchased vehicles is no different in substance from attorney Wemhoff's filing of a class action on behalf of unnamed plaintiffs. Just as the DPPA did not permit the attorney in *Wemhoff* to obtain Personal Information from DMV records to locate clients to pursue the class action he had filed without a named plaintiff, the DPPA did not permit the Lawyers to obtain Personal Information from the SCDMV to find clients who could pursue the claims against 316 car dealers that they had filed without plaintiffs. No matter how hard they may try, the Lawyers cannot avoid the *Wemhoff* court's clear holding that "acquiring personal information from the motor vehicle records for the purpose of finding and soliciting clients for a lawsuit is not a 'permissible use' within the meaning of § 2721(b)." *Wemhoff*, 887 A.2d at 1012.

The Lawyers make similar arguments in their attempts to distinguish *Pichler v. UNITE*, 585 F.3d 741 (3d Cir. 2009) ("*Pichler VIP*"), *cert. denied sub nom. Nat'l Right to Work Legal Def. Found., Inc. v. UNITE*, 178 L. Ed. 2d 22 (Oct. 4, 2010). The Lawyers again rely on the claims filed against 316 defendants without injured plaintiffs who had standing to pursue those claims and argue, in effect, that because of this place-holding, they were not attempting to locate litigants to bring a "potential case" because representative litigation on behalf of unnamed individuals had already commenced or was imminent. Again, this is a distinction without a difference.

The Lawyers' claims against the 316 defendants were no more related to the properly-filed claims in *Herron* than any claims the NRTW sought to file were related to the claims pending against UNITE. In fact, the argument would be even stronger in the context of *Pichler VII*, since the NRTW intended to notify individuals of claims against the same defendant, not 316 new ones. *See* 585 F.3d at 745. And, although the Lawyers claim that this case is distinguishable because in *Pichler VII* the prospect of litigation resulting from the NRTW's proposed contact was "highly speculative," the Third Circuit found that the NRTW was "almost certain" to locate plaintiffs interested in pursuing claims. *Id.* at 753. The Third Circuit's holding that the NRTW's proposed actions were not authorized by the DPPA because "the DPPA . . . does not permit one to acquire and use

statutorily proscribed personal information to solicit or find claims" is equally applicable to this case. *Id.* at 752.

Finding no support in the appellate court explications of the "litigation exception," the Lawyers have sought refuge in opinions from district courts in other circuits.³ But none of the cases that the Lawyers cite approved the solicitation of clients; instead, they considered (and approved) the use of Personal Information in ongoing or potential litigation. *See Manso v. Santamarina & Assocs.*, No. 04 Civ. 10276, 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 7316 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 26, 2005); *Bailey v. Daniels*, 679 F. Supp. 2d 713 (W.D. La. 2009).

There was no allegation in *Manso* that the defendant attorneys used the plaintiff's Personal Information to solicit clients. The Lawyers' representation that the *Manso* case is "factually similar" to this case is accurate only insofar as the defendants in that case were also attorneys. Beyond that, however, the case before

³ The Lawyers also point to selected excerpts from the legislative history to argue that the DPPA does not mean what it says. However, the Supreme Court has repeatedly instructed that "the authoritative statement is the statutory text, not the legislative history or any other extrinsic material." *See Exxon Mobil Corp. v. Allapattah Servs., Inc.*, 545 U.S. 546, 568 (2005). Extrinsic materials have a role in statutory interpretation *only* to the extent they shed a reliable light on the enacting Legislature's understanding of otherwise *ambiguous* terms. *Id.* Courts "do not resort to legislative history to cloud a statutory text that is clear." *Ratzlaf v. United States*, 510 U.S. 135, 147-48 (1994). The DPPA is clear, and courts throughout the country have applied the DPPA according to its plain language, without resort to its legislative history. *See, e.g., Kehoe v. Fid. Fed. Bank & Trust*, 421 F.3d 1209 (11th Cir. 2005); *Pichler v. UNITE*, 542 F.3d 380 (3d Cir. 2008) ("*Pichler V*").

the *Manso* court bears no resemblance to this case. In *Manso*, the defendant attorneys represented a landlord against the plaintiff in a housing dispute. 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 7316 at *5-6. After the plaintiff submitted an affidavit containing a representation concerning the location of his primary residence, the defendant attorneys sought to establish that this was not his primary residence and obtained a report that contained DMV information from a consumer reporting agency. *Id.* at *6-7.

The district court simply found that the defendant attorneys' efforts to impeach the plaintiff's sworn statement regarding his primary residence to demonstrate that the plaintiff had sworn to an untruth in the course of their ongoing litigation was a use in connection with litigation. *Id.* at *17-19. Therefore, the defendant attorneys' use of the plaintiff's Personal Information was permitted by the "litigation exception" of the DPPA. *Id.*

Likewise, the *Bailey* case did not involve any attempt at solicitation. In *Bailey*, the defendant (a deputy sheriff with the Rapides Parish Sheriff's Office) believed that the plaintiff had stolen and killed defendant's hunting dog. 679 F. Supp. 2d at 714. The defendant contacted the Rapides Parish Sheriff's Office to obtain the plaintiff's name using the plaintiff's license plate number. *Id.* Shortly thereafter, as a result of another Sheriff's Office's investigation, the plaintiff was arrested, charged with, and later convicted of, theft. *Id.* at 715.

The district court ruled that there was no genuine issue of material fact as to whether the defendant obtained the plaintiff's name for a purpose that the "litigation exception" permitted, accepting the defendant's contention that the personal information he had obtained could have been used in a future criminal proceeding against the plaintiff stemming from the theft of his dog and/or the dog's collar. *Id.* at 721.

The lesson from the case law is clear. Lawyers cannot rely on the "litigation exception" to justify using DPPA-protected Personal Information to solicit clients. The District Court's ruling that this exception authorized the Lawyers' actions, and its reliance upon the unsworn assertions of counsel in the place of facts to support this conclusion, constituted reversible error.

B. The "State Action Exception" Did Not Excuse The Lawyers' Actions.

While giving lip-service to the two-part test that the Eleventh Circuit articulated for the "state action exception" in *Rine v. Imagitas, Inc.*, 590 F.3d 1215 (11th Cir. 2009), the Lawyers make no effort to apply the test to their Solicitation Letters. Instead, they underscore the success of their belated efforts to have the *Herron* court label them as "private attorneys general" (one month after the District Court denied their motion to dismiss this action) as if it were some sort of talisman. This "labeling" by a state court in a totally different context is not

equivalent to the *Rine* test, however, and the lower court erred in effectively accepting it as such.

The Lawyers fail to recognize that this case is not about *Herron* or about the relief sought in *Herron*.⁴ This case is about the Lawyers' improper use of federally-protected Personal Information to send out mass solicitation mailings. This Court has not been asked to decide whether the Lawyers were acting as "private attorneys general" in seeking injunctive relief against the eight car dealer defendants for whom they had proper plaintiffs. Regardless of how that question might be answered, it has no bearing on the question of whether the Lawyers were "carrying out a function of" and "acting on behalf of" the South Carolina Attorney General when they sent Solicitation Letters to over 36,000 people to try to find plaintiffs for the other 316 dealers they had sued.

First, the Lawyers cannot legitimately claim that they solicited clients in furtherance of a function of the Attorney General. The Attorney General does not need to solicit clients to prosecute lawsuits, as he is empowered to "institute, conduct and maintain all such suits and proceedings as he deems necessary for the enforcement of the laws of the State, the preservation of order, and the protection

⁴ Likewise, the Lawyers' emphasis on the actions of the *Herron* car dealer defendants serves solely to confuse the issues further. The Plaintiffs in this case are not the *Herron* car dealer defendants. They are Drivers whose Personal Information was obtained by the Lawyers and then used to solicit them to become clients. The actions of the *Herron* car dealer defendants are completely irrelevant to this appeal and to this action in general.

of public rights." State ex rel. Condon v. Hodges, 562 S.E.2d 623, 627 (S.C. 2002).

Moreover, the Attorney General's authority under the statute the Lawyers have invoked is limited (as the trial court in *Herron* has recognized) to seeking prospective injunctive relief. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 56-15-40(5). And the Attorney General's authority is not even triggered until after the consumer has taken reasonable efforts to "alleviate the complaint." *Id.* Accordingly, the Lawyers' efforts to find people who had claims for money damages – people who the Lawyers assert did not even know about their claims, let alone had attempted to "alleviate" them – cannot possibly have been in furtherance of a function of the Attorney General.

It is equally clear that the Lawyers were not acting on behalf of the Attorney General when they made their requests for information to the SCDMV and solicited clients using the Personal Information they obtained through those requests. A private individual or entity acts "on behalf of" a government agency when it is acting "as the agent of" or "as representative of" the agency. *Rine*, 590 F.3d at 1224-25. The Lawyers had never even invoked the title of the Attorney General until after they were sued in this case, more than two years after they had obtained the Personal Information and sent the Solicitation Letters. There is no evidence that the Lawyers have acted in any form of agency relationship with the

Attorney General, that they ever consulted with the Attorney General, or even that they have provided the Attorney General with any of the information they obtained through the solicitations.

The District Court's acceptance of the Lawyers' *post hoc* rationalizations that they must have been acting under the "state action exception" because they obtained a state court order referring to them as "private attorneys general" was erroneous. If the lower court had properly analyzed the exception and applied the *Rine* test, it would have had no option but to find that this exception did not apply to the Lawyers' Solicitation Letters and their underlying FOIA requests.

II. The Lawyers' Final Three "Issues" Are Without Merit.

Although the District Court declined to address the Lawyers' arguments concerning the addition of a *scienter* element to the DPPA, the claim that the DPPA requires proof of actual damages, and the suggestion that the DPPA is unconstitutional if applied to their actions, the Lawyers have asked this Court to consider these assertions. As the Lawyers are forced to acknowledge in their brief, there is no support for their positions on these points, and all courts that have considered these questions have ruled against the positions the Lawyers urge this Court to take.

First, the Lawyers assert that in order to establish civil liability under the DPPA, a plaintiff must prove a "knowing" violation. But as the Lawyers have

grudgingly acknowledged to the Court, both the Third Circuit and a district court in the Southern District of Florida have rejected similar attempts to graft a *scienter* element onto the DPPA. *See Pichler v. UNITE*, 542 F.3d 380, 396 (3d Cir. 2008) ("*Pichler V*"); *Rios v. Direct Mail Express, Inc.*, 435 F. Supp. 2d 1199 (S.D. Fla. 2006). In fact, the Third Circuit panel in *Pichler V* described the very argument that the Lawyers make here as "patently without merit." *Pichler V*, 542 F.3d at 396.

Comparing the civil liability section of the DPPA to that creating criminal liability, the Third Circuit held that "Congress differentiated between a knowing acquisition, disclosure, or use to establish civil liability, and any knowing violation to establish liability for a criminal fine."⁵ *Id.* at 397. The *Pichler V* court further observed that UNITE's reading of the DPPA – the same as what the Lawyers are sponsoring in this case – was "incomprehensible given the statute's punitive damages provision." *Id.* As the Third Circuit noted, if the DPPA conditioned civil liability upon a defendant's knowing violation, every single violation of the DPPA would justify an award of punitive damages. *See id.*

⁵ Like the Lawyers, the *Pichler* defendants also compared the statutory language in § 2722 and § 2724 to argue that the same *mens rea* standard should apply to civil and criminal cases. The Third Circuit observed, however, that the criminal liability standard is not found in § 2722, but is actually set forth in § 2723, which imposes criminal liability upon a person "who knowingly violates" the DPPA. *Pichler V*, 542 F.3d at 396-97.

The Lawyers would next have this Court rule, contrary to both the Third Circuit and the Eleventh Circuit, that a plaintiff must prove that he suffered actual damages before he can seek liquidated damages under § 2724(b) of the DPPA. Both of these courts have rejected the very argument the Lawyers have made in this case to the effect that, based upon the Supreme Court's reasoning in *Doe v*. *Chao*, 540 U.S. 614 (2004) (concerning an interpretation of the Privacy Act of 1974), proof of actual damages is required under the DPPA. *See Pichler V*, 542 F.3d at 397-400; *Kehoe v. Fid. Fed. Bank & Trust*, 421 F.3d 1209, 1212-16 (11th Cir. 2005). Both courts noted the *Doe* Court's reliance on the specific statutory phrase "but in no case shall a person entitled to recovery receive less than the sum of \$1,000." *Pichler V*, 542 F.3d at 398 (quoting 5 U.S.C. § 552a(g)(4)(A)) (emphasis supplied by the court); *see also Kehoe*, 421 F.3d at 1214.

Because the DPPA does not contain this "critical limiting phrase," both courts held that the Supreme Court's analysis in *Doe* did not apply by analogy. *See id.* In fact, the *Kehoe* court observed that the DPPA uses language similar to language that the Supreme Court provided as an example of "a potential model for a remedial provision in which proof of actual damages is not a prerequisite" to recovering statutory damages. *Kehoe*, 421 F.3d at 1214. As the Eleventh Circuit held, "the plain meaning of the statute is clear – a plaintiff need not prove actual damages to be awarded liquidated damages." *Id.*

Finally, the Lawyers strain to raise an issue concerning the constitutionality of the DPPA, despite the Supreme Court's clear and unanimous holding over ten years ago that the DPPA was a proper exercise of congressional authority to regulate interstate commerce. Reno v. Condon, 528 U.S. 141 (2000). Attempting to avoid the Supreme Court's holding, the Lawyers claim that although Congress had the power to enact the DPPA, the statute exceeds Congress's authority to the extent that it is applied in this case to the intrastate release and use of Personal Information. But it has long been established that when Congress enacts a statute pursuant to its powers under the Commerce Clause, that statute may properly reach even to purely local activities that may not in themselves be regarded as commerce. See, e.g., Gonzales v. Raich, 545 U.S. 1, 15-22 (2005); Wickard v. Filburn, 317 U.S. 111, 119-29 (1942). When Congress is acting well within its authority under the Commerce Clause, the fact that "the regulation ensnares some purely intrastate activity is of no moment." Raich, 545 U.S. at 22. Because it is flatly contrary to Supreme Court precedent, the Lawyers' constitutional argument borders on the frivolous.

CONCLUSION

For all of these reasons and those set forth in the Brief of the Appellants, this Court should reverse the District Court's grant of summary judgment in favor of the Appellees and remand the case to the District Court.

Respectfully submitted,

NEAL & HARWELL, PLC

By: /s/ Philip N. Elbert Philip N. Elbert James G. Thomas W. David Bridgers Elizabeth S. Tipping 150 Fourth Avenue North, Suite 2000 Nashville, Tennessee 37219 (615) 244-1713 (phone) (615) 726-0573 (fax) pelbert@nealharwell.com jthomas@nealharwell.com etipping@nealharwell.com

and

Gary L. Compton 296 Daniel Morgan Avenue Spartanburg, South Carolina 29306 (864) 583-5186 (phone) (864) 585-0139 (fax) <u>atty9578@bellsouth.net</u>

Counsel for Plaintiffs-Appellants Edward F. Maracich, Martha L. Weeks, and John C. Tanner

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE FOURTH CIRCUIT

No. 10-2021 Caption: Maracich, et al. v. Spears, et al.

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 28.1(e) or 32(a)

Certificate of Compliance With Type-Volume Limitation, Typeface Requirements, and Type Style Requirements

1. This brief complies with the type-volume limitation of Fed. R. App. P. 28.1(e)(2) or 32(a)(7)(B) because:

[Appellant's Opening Brief, Appellee's Response Brief, and Appellant's Response/Reply Brief may not exceed 14,000 words or 1,300 lines; Appellee's Opening/Response Brief may not exceed 16,500 words or 1,500 lines; any Reply or Amicus Brief may not exceed 7,000 words or 650 lines; line count may be used only with monospaced type]

this brief contains <u>4,666</u> [*state the number of*] words, excluding the parts of the brief exempted by Fed. R. App. P. 32(a)(7)(B)(iii), or

this brief uses a monospaced typeface and contains _____ [*state the number of*] lines of text, excluding the parts of the brief exempted by Fed. R. App. P. 32(a)(7)(B)(iii).

2. This brief complies with the typeface requirements of Fed. R. App. P. 32(a)(5) and the type style requirements of Fed. R. App. P. 32(a)(6) because:

[14-point font must be used with proportional typeface, such as Times New Roman or CG Times; 12-point font must be used with monospaced typeface, such as Courier or Courier New]

this brief has been prepared in a proportionally spaced typeface using MS Word2003[state name and version of word processing program] in 14-pointNew Times Roman[state font size and name of the type style]; or

this brief has been prepared in a monospaced typeface using _______ [state name and version of word processing program] with _______ [state number of characters per inch and name of type style].

(s) Philip N. Elbert

Attorney for Plaintiffs

Dated: February 4, 2011

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Due to the CM/ECF system maintenance on February 4, 2011, the foregoing document could not be electronically filed on this date. Therefore, I certify that the foregoing document was served on all parties or their counsel of record via electronic mail using the e-mail addresses on record with the Court. The foregoing document will also be served through the CM/ECF system when it becomes available again on February 7, 2011.

/s/ Philip N. Elbert

Page 1



LEXSEE 2005 US DIST LEXIS 7316

JESUS MANSO, Plaintiff, -against- SANTAMARINA & ASSOCIATES and GILBERT SANTAMARINA, Defendants.

04 Civ. 10276 (LBS)

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 7316

April 26, 2005, Decided April 26, 2005, Filed

DISPOSITION: [*1] Defendants' motion to dismiss Complaint GRANTED. Plaintiff's claims under Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq., and Driver's Privacy Protection Act, 18 U.S.C. § 2721 et seq., DISMISSED.

CASE SUMMARY:

PROCEDURAL POSTURE: Plaintiff, a tenant of an apartment that was the subject of a holdover petition, sued defendants, a law firm and individual attorney, asserting violations of the Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA), *15 U.S.C.S. § 1681 et seq.*, the New York Fair Credit Reporting Act (NYFCRA), *N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law § 380 et seq.*, and the Driver's Privacy Protection Act (DPPA), *18 U.S.C.S. § 2721 et seq.* Defendants moved to dismiss pursuant to *Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).*

OVERVIEW: Defendants allegedly violated portions of the FCRA and DPPA by utilizing a consumer reporting agency to obtain certain information pertaining to him from the New York State Department of Motor Vehicles, acting under false pretenses, and then including that information in a pleading filed in a housing court proceeding without protective seal. With regard to the DPPA claim, the complaint failed to state a claim as to the last element of a cause of action under 18 U.S.C.S. § 2724(a), that the information be obtained or used "for a purpose not permitted under this chapter." Next, he contended that the second portion of the report, containing information on speeding convictions, was protected by the FCRA. He asserted that defendants violated 15 U.S.C.S. § 1681b by obtaining and using this portion of the report without a purpose permissible under the FCRA, and violated 15 U.S.C.S. § 1681q by obtaining it under false pretenses. His claims for negligent and intentional violations of § 1681b(f) failed. Finally, the Scott decision, which held that a person cannot obtain information to which he has a right under false pretenses, prevented him from stating a claim under 15 U.S.C.S. § 1681q.

OUTCOME: Defendants' motion to dismiss the complaint was granted. The claims under the FCRA and DPPA were dismissed. The court declined to exercise jurisdiction over the remaining state-law claims, which were dismissed without prejudice.

COUNSEL: For Jesus Manso, Plaintiff: James Bart Fishman, Fishman & Neil, LLP, New York, NY.

For Santamarina & Associates, Gilbert Santamarina, Defendants: Gil Santamarina, Santamarina & Associates, NY, NY.

JUDGES: Leonard B. Sand, U.S.D.J.

Page 2

OPINION BY: Leonard B. Sand

OPINION

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

SAND, District Judge.

Plaintiff Jesus Manso ("Plaintiff" or "Manso") brings this action against the law firm of Santamarina & Associates and individual attorney Gilbert (or Gil¹) Santamarina (collectively "Defendants"), asserting violations of the federal Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq. ("FCRA"); the New York Fair Credit Reporting Act, N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law § 380 et seq. ("NYFCRA"); and the Driver's Privacy Protection Act, 18 U.S.C. § 2721 et seq. ("DPPA"). Manso alleges that Defendants violated various portions of the FCRA, NYFRCA and DPPA by utilizing [*2] a consumer reporting agency to obtain certain information pertaining to him from the New York State Department of Motor Vehicles ("DMV"), ² acting under false pretenses in the process, and then including that information in a pleading filed in a New York City housing court proceeding without protective seal.

> 1 Mr. Santamarina avers that he is actually "Gil Santamarina" and has been "incorrectly sued as 'Gilbert Santamarina'." (Pet'r Affirmation in Supp. of Mot. to Dismiss P1.) Neither he nor Plaintiff suggests that this mistake should have any substantive consequences.

> 2 Manso's allegation that the entity through which the information was obtained was a consumer reporting agency for purposes of the FCRA is conclusory, but the question whether more detail was required in this respect need not be addressed given the other, more fundamental problems with the Complaint.

Defendants have moved pursuant to *Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure* to dismiss [*3] the complaint for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. For the reasons stated below, this motion is granted with respect to Plaintiff's claims under the DPPA and the FCRA, and the Court declines to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff's state law claims.

I. Legal Standard

A motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim pursuant to Fed R. Civ. Pro. 12(b)(6) should be granted "if, accepting all the allegations in the complaint as true and drawing all reasonable inferences in plaintiff's favor, the complaint fails to allege any set of facts that would entitle plaintiff to relief." Hartford Courant Co. v. Pellegrino, 380 F.3d 83, 89-90 (2d Cir. 2004); Emergent Capital Inv. Mgmt., LLC v. Stonepath Group, Inc., 343 F.3d 189, 194 (2d Cir. 2003). "The task of the court in ruling on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion 'is merely to assess the legal feasibility of the complaint, not to assay the weight of the evidence which might be offered in support thereof." Cooper v. Parsky, 140 F.3d 433, 440 (2d Cir. 1998) (quoting Ryder Energy Distribution Corp. v. Merrill Lynch Commodities, Inc., 748 F.2d 774, 779 (2d Cir. 1984)). [*4] "While the pleading standard is a liberal one," however, "bald assertions and conclusions of law will not suffice." Leeds v. Meltz, 85 F.3d 51, 53 (2d Cir. 1996).

In evaluating the allegations of a complaint on a motion to dismiss, a court may also consider "documents attached to the complaint as an exhibit or incorporated in it by reference... matters of which judicial notice may be taken, or... documents either in plaintiffs' possession or of which plaintiffs had knowledge and relied on in bringing suit." Brass v. American Film Technologies, Inc., 987 F.2d 142, 150 (2d Cir. 1993). Particularly relevant here, "courts routinely take judicial notice of documents filed in other courts... to establish the fact of such litigation and related filings." Kramer v. Time Warner, Inc., 937 F.2d 767, 774 (2d Cir. 1991). Both Plaintiff and Defendants have submitted copies of various filings in the New York litigation with respect to which the acts allegedly occurred, Spanish complained-of Benevolent Society, Inc. v. Manso, Index No. L&T 69264/04 (N.Y. Civ. Ct. 2004). Although the parties have not submitted copies of all of the same filings, [*5] neither side disputes the authenticity of the copies introduced by the other. Therefore, the Court will consider the submitted Housing Court filings in ruling on this motion to dismiss, on the ground that they represent matters of which judicial notice may be taken. The Housing Court filings could perhaps also be considered documents incorporated in the complaint by reference, as Defendants argue, but considering them as subject to judicial notice eliminates the necessity of determining whether this designation would apply to each and every filing submitted by either side.

Page 3

II. Background

Reading the allegations of the Complaint in conjunction with the Housing Court filings submitted by the parties produces the following relevant facts to be assumed for purposes of this motion. At all relevant times, Manso resided at 239 W. 14th St., Apt. # 10, New York, NY. Beginning in May 2004, this apartment was the subject of a holdover petition, filed in Housing Part F of the Civil Court of the City of New York (referred to by the parties as New York "Housing Court"). The petition was filed by Petitioner-Landlord Spanish Benevolent Society, Inc. against Manso as Respondent-Tenant. [*6] Santamarina & Associates served as counsel for the Spanish Benevolent Society; Manso was represented by Fishman & Neil, the same firm that serves as his counsel in this federal action.

On June 15, 2004, Manso filed a motion in the Civil Court action seeking, among other relief, summary judgment dismissing the petition with prejudice. In support of his application for summary judgment, Manso offered an affidavit. The first numbered averment in this affidavit included the statement "I reside at 239 West 14th Street Apt. 10 New York NY (the 'subject premises')." (Def. Affirmation in Supp. of Mot. to Dismiss, Ex. C.) The third numbered averment in this affidavit included the statement "I have resided in the subject premises since February 1, 2004, as my primary residence, at a monthly rent of \$ 600.00." (Id.)

On or about June 22, 2004, Defendants requested and received a report from KLM Search Services ("KLM"), a "consumer reporting agency" (Compl. P9), that contained information regarding Plaintiff. This report (the "KLM Report" or "Report"), which KLM had obtained for Defendants from the DMV, was titled "Driver Record -- New York State." (Def. Affirmation in Supp. of Mot. to Dismiss, [*7] Ex. E; Pl. Dec. in Opp'n to Def. Mot., Ex. 3.) It comprised two distinct portions containing different sorts of information. The first portion included Plaintiff's "name, address, date of birth, height, gender, eye color, New York State Motor Vehicle Identification Number, restrictive lens status, license class, license status and license expiration date." (Compl. P10.) The address given in this portion differed significantly from the address sworn to by Plaintiff in the affidavit that had accompanied his June 15 motion. The second portion detailed an accident prevention course that Plaintiff had undergone, and his convictions for

speeding and driving without a seat belt.³

3 The Report shows convictions for "NO SEAT BELT DRIVER" and "SPEED IN ZONE" for which Plaintiff was penalized by fines of \$ 40 and \$ 60 respectively.

In accessing, obtaining and using the information contained in the KLM Report, "the defendants expressly or impliedly advised KLM that they had a 'permissible purpose' for doing so." (Compl. **[*8]** PP15-16.) They did not, Plaintiff alleges, actually have such a permissible purpose. Rather, "in accessing, obtaining and using such information, the defendant[s] acted knowingly and willfully and under false pretenses." (Compl. P17.)

Having obtained the KLM Report, the Defendants attached it to a Notice of Cross-Motion that they filed on behalf of the petitioner Spanish Benevolent Society in the Civil Court action. They did so "as part of an effort to establish that the plaintiff did not primarily reside at his home located at 239 West 14th Street Apt. 10 New York, NY." (Compl. P19.) This effort was made despite the fact that under what Plaintiff asserts to be the correct interpretation of New York law, "the plaintiff's primary residence at that location had no bearing on, or relevance to, the issues before the New York City Housing Court in the Housing Court case" (Compl. P20), and neither did the other information contained in the KLM Report have any such relevance.

Plaintiff's attorney wrote to Defendants shortly after the cross-motion was filed and served. He "advised [them] that [in his view] [their] use and publication of the report violated the DPPA and the FRCA and [*9] requested that they take steps to mitigate the plaintiff's harm by retracting the report from the Court file." (Compl. P23.) Defendants refused to withdraw the KLM Report (or at least attempt to withdraw it), leaving the report available to the public.

Plaintiff, by his same attorney, brought this action several months later. The claims that he attempts to state in it make up three conceptually distinct groups, which will be addressed in turn: claims under the DPPA, claims under the FCRA, and claims under New York State law.

III. Driver's Privacy Protection Act

It is convenient to address Plaintiff's claim under the Driver's Privacy Protection Act first, both because it is

Page 4

the simplest to dispose of and because Plaintiff asserts that the DPPA claim covers the first portion of the KLM Report. Plaintiff asserts that he has stated a cause of action for the obtaining, use and disclosure of the first portion of the KLM Report under 18 U.S.C. § 2724(a), which provides that "[a] person who knowingly obtains, discloses or uses personal information, from a motor vehicle record, for a purpose not permitted under this chapter shall be liable to the individual [*10] to whom the information pertains, who may bring a civil action in a United States district court." 18 U.S.C.S. § 2724(a) (2005).

The first portion of the KLM Report (although not the second portion) does qualify as "personal information" under the DPPA. According to the definitions section of the DPPA, "personal information' means information that identifies an individual, including an individual's photograph, social security number, driver identification number, name, address (but not the 5-digit zip code), telephone number, and medical or disability information, but does not include information on vehicular accidents, driving violations, and driver's status." 18 U.S.C.S. § 2725(3). The first portion of the KLM Report includes Plaintiff's name, address, and driver identification number, as well as some "disability information" in the form of a notation regarding the requirement that he wear corrective lenses.

Plaintiff also sufficiently alleges that the information in the first portion of the KLM Report (as well as the information in the second portion) was from a "motor vehicle record." That term is defined under the DPPA as "any [*11] record that pertains to a motor vehicle operator's permit, motor vehicle title, motor vehicle registration, or identification card issued by a department of motor vehicles," 18 U.S.C.S. § 2725(1), and it is certainly a reasonable inference from the facts pled that the information in the KLM Report was obtained from a record pertaining to Plaintiff's license to operate a motor vehicle. The only remaining element of a cause of action under § 2724 is that the information be obtained or used "for a purpose not permitted under this chapter," 18 U.S.C.S. § 2724(a).

With respect to this last element, however, Plaintiff's complaint fails to state a claim. One permitted purpose for which the DPPA allows information from a motor vehicle record to be disclosed is "for use in connection with any civil, criminal, administrative, or arbitral

proceeding in any Federal, State, or local court or agency or before any self-regulatory body, including the service of process, investigation in anticipation of litigation, and the execution or enforcement of judgments and orders." 18 U.S.C.S. § 2721(b)(4). According to the Complaint, [*12] "the Defendants attached the report to [the] papers filed in the Housing Court case as part of an effort to establish that the plaintiff did not primarily reside at his home located at 239 West 14th Street Apt. 10 New York, NY." (Compl. P19.) This was a "use in connection with [a] civil... proceeding in [a]... State[] or local court," 18 U.S.C.S. § 2721(b)(4).

Plaintiff's allegation that the location of his primary residence lacked relevance to the issues before the Housing Court does not suffice to save his claim. Even if Plaintiff is correct as a matter of New York State law that his primary residence, as such, should not ultimately have been relevant to the merits of the question before the Housing Court, it is nevertheless the case that he swore in an affidavit submitted with his Housing Court motion that 239 West 14th Street Apt. 10 was his primary residence. It was only after the submission of this affidavit that Defendants sought and obtained the KLM Report. Defendants' effort to refute Plaintiff's sworn statement regarding his primary residence, so as to demonstrate that Plaintiff had sworn to an untruth in the course of the Housing Court litigation, [*13] was a use in connection with that litigation.

In support of his argument that Defendants cannot rely on the "litigation exception" contained in 18 U.S.C. § 2721(b)(4), Plaintiff cites Cowan v. Ernest Codelia, P.C., 149 F. Supp. 2d 67 (S.D.N.Y. 2001), and Pichler v. UNITE, 339 F. Supp. 2d 665 (E.D. Pa. 2004), and argues that "the party obtaining information from the DMV must use it reasonably in relation to the focus of the litigation." (Pl. Mem. in Opp'n to Defs. Mot. to Dismiss at 18.) Use of information during a litigation in a manner not reasonably related to that litigation might indeed give rise to the inference that the information was not actually obtained and used "in connection with" that litigation, as § 2721(b)(4) requires, but that the litigation was instead merely a pretext for an action taken for some other purpose. See Cowan, 149 F. Supp. 2d at 79. Such an inference is not applicable here, however, and both Cowan and Pichler are readily distinguishable from this case.

In Cowan, an attorney at the defendant law firm,

Page 5

William Tauber, acquired from DMV records the address of plaintiff [*14] Robin Cowan, the Assistant District Attorney ("ADA") who had cross-examined him when he served as a witness at the suppression hearing in a murder case. He then used this address, which was not publicly listed, to mail an empty envelope to Ms. Cowan.149 F. Supp. 2d at 71-72. When Ms. Cowan called Tauber to ascertain if he had sent her the empty envelope, Tauber allegedly "advised Ms. Cowan that he wanted to determine if Ms. Cowan really lived in New York City and... also indicated he had done so to 'pay her back' for having vigorously cross-examined Tauber when he testified at the suppression hearing in the [murder] case." 149 F. Supp. 2d at 72. The Cowan defendants conceded that the envelope had been mailed based on information obtained from a search of DMV records, but "contended that Tauber caused the search to be made to confirm whether or not Robin Cowan was a bona fide resident of the City of New York," an issue that they asserted was relevant because "N.Y. Public Officers Law § 3 requires that Bronx ADAs reside within the City of New York and... in the absence of compliance with that law, an ADA is not qualified to serve [*15] and may be removed." Id. The defendants' motion for summary judgment was denied on the ground that "a reasonable juror could find that the DMV searches and the subsequent sending of the envelope to Ms. Cowan's residence was not for use in connection with a criminal proceeding but rather was to threaten or harass her for personal reasons." Id. at 79.

In this case, unlike Cowan, the complaint itself alleges that the defendants obtained and used DMV information "as part of an effort to establish" a point in the litigation. (Compl. P19.) That the point Defendants wished to establish may have been relevant only peripherally, as bearing on the respondent-affiant's willingness to swear falsely, does not transform an effort to establish that point into an effort to threaten or harass for personal reasons, or to accomplish some other impermissible personal purpose. Submission of information to a court in an effort to prove false swearing by an adversary is not at all analogous to the "private, allegedly vindictive use of the information to threaten opposing counsel" that Cowan held "would not be a 'use' in connection with a [pending] case," 149 F. Supp. 2d at 79. **[*16**]

Pichler, as well, involved a use of information that was too conceptually distant from any pending case to qualify as being "in connection" with one. The Pichler plaintiffs alleged that the defendant unions, during an attempt to organize the employees of Cintas Corporation, had obtained their home addresses from motor vehicle records after writing down license plate numbers of cars parked outside a Cintas facility, and had used this information to contact them at home. The unions asserted that because "the complaint alleges that they obtained the plaintiffs' personal information as part of a union organizing effort, activity protected under the National Labor Relations Act," they were protected by the litigation exception to the DPPA.339 F. Supp. 2d at 667. Although "the complaint never identified any proceeding in which the Unions might use this information," the defendant unions requested that the court "take judicial notice of the many NLRB proceedings involving their efforts to organize Cintas workers." Id. Noting that the parties had not provided copies of "the papers filed with the NLRB," and that even if they had done so the court would not undertake [*17] "extensive review of those papers" at the motion to dismiss stage, the court in Pichler determined that it "[could] not grant the motion to dismiss on the grounds of the litigation exception because the complaint does not establish that the exception applies here." Id. at 667-68.

UnlikePichler, in this case copies of the relevant filed papers have been provided, and an extensive review of them is not required in order to determine that the litigation exception applies. A brief review of the affidavit filed by Manso in the New York action -- a review clearly permitted under Brass v. American Film Technologies, Inc., 987 F.2d 142, 150 (2d Cir. 1993), and Kramer v. Time Warner, Inc., 937 F.2d 767, 774 (2d Cir. 1991), see supra Part I -- is sufficient to make it quite clear that the litigation exception applies. Even the Complaint itself, read in isolation without the publicly filed documents that it likely incorporates by reference, establishes that the litigation exception applies. The Complaint alleges that "the defendants attached the [KLM] report to its [sic] papers filed in the Housing Court case as part of an [*18] effort to establish that the plaintiff did not primarily reside at his home located at 239 West 14th Street Apt. 10 New York, NY." (Compl. P19.) It thus identifies a specific proceeding, in the course of which Defendants submitted the report in "an effort to establish" a particular point. These facts alleged by the Complaint itself distinguish this case from Pichler, where no proceeding in connection with which the driver's-record information could have been used was

Page 6

even identified. The holding of Pichler therefore does not support Plaintiff's position.

The dictum from Pichler that is quoted in Plaintiff's Memorandum of Law also does not support Plaintiff's position. In "digressing" to explain how the litigation exception would be interpreted if the defendants could establish at a later stage of the case that a relevant proceeding existed, Pichler interpreted the word "use" in \$ 2721(b)(4) to "imply a reasonable likelihood that the decision maker would find the information useful in the course of the proceeding." 339 F. Supp. 2d at 668. Assuming for the sake of argument that this is the correct standard, Defendants have satisfied it, regardless of whether [*19] the location of Plaintiff's primary residence was ultimately relevant to the outcome of the Housing Court proceeding on a proper interpretation of New York law. This Court takes judicial notice of the fact that it, and many other courts, would find useful the information that a party and affiant had sworn incorrectly or falsely with respect to a fact that would have been peculiarly within his personal knowledge (such as his primary residence). Whether or not information indicating that Plaintiff's residence was not at 239 West 14th Street would have been "useful" information under the Pichler standard before he swore that his primary residence was at that location, it became so afterward. Thus, Plaintiff's DPPA claim must fail.

IV. Federal Fair Credit Reporting Act

Plaintiff contends that the second portion of the KLM Report, containing information on his convictions for speeding and driving without a seat belt and on an accident prevention course that he completed, was protected by the federal *Fair Credit Reporting Act*. He asserts that Defendants violated 15 U.S.C. § 1681b by obtaining and using this portion of the KLM Report without a purpose [*20] permissible under the FCRA, and violated 15 U.S.C. § 1681q by obtaining this portion of the report under false pretenses. These two sections will be addressed in turn.

A. 15 U.S.C. § 1681b

Plaintiff's first and second causes of action allege violations of 15 U.S.C. § 1681b. According to subsection (f) of that section,

A person shall not use or obtain a consumer report for any purpose unless--

(1) the consumer report is obtained for a purpose for which the consumer report is authorized to be furnished under this section.

15 U.S.C.S. § 1681b(f) (2005). A cause of action for intentional violation of any FCRA requirement is provided by 15 U.S.C. § 1681n, and a cause of action for negligent violation of any FCRA requirement is provided by 15 U.S.C. § 1681o. Plaintiff makes claims under both § 1681n and § 1681o, for negligent and intentional [*21] violations of § 1681b(f).

Both claims based on § 1681b(f) must fail, for identical reasons. Assuming that the second portion of the KLM Report qualified as a "consumer report" at all -which is itself doubtful -- the purpose for which the KLM Report is alleged to have been obtained was an authorized one under § 1681b, meaning that no violation of § 1681b(f)(1) occurred. It is not alleged that Defendants failed to certify this authorized purpose pursuant to § 1681b(f)(2), so Plaintiff's claims under § 1681n and § 1681o for violations of § 1681b necessarily rely solely on § 1681b(f)(1), and Defendants' compliance with § 1681b(f)(1) is thus fatal to Plaintiff's first and second causes of action.

1. Definition of a Consumer Report

In order for § 1681b(f) to apply, what was used or obtained must be a "consumer report" as that term is defined under the FCRA. According to 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(d)(1),

The term "consumer report" means any written, oral, or other communication of any information by a consumer reporting agency bearing on a consumer's credit worthiness, ⁴ credit standing, credit capacity, character, general reputation, personal [*22] characteristics, or mode of living which is used or expected to be used or collected in whole or in part for the purpose of serving as a factor in establishing the consumer's eligibility for--

(A) credit or insurance to be used primarily for personal, family, or household purposes;

(B) employment purposes; or

Page 7

(C) any other purpose authorized under [15 U.S.C. § 1681b].

15 U.S.C.A. § 1681a(d)(1) (2005). Certain communications that would otherwise be consumer reports under this definition are excluded from that category by 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(d)(2), but for the purposes of this case the primary definition is sufficient.

4 The United States Code Annotated notes that while "credit worthiness" appears in the original statute, this "probably should be creditworthiness". *15 U.S.C.A. § 1681a* at n.1 (2005).

It is doubtful whether any portion of the KLM Report qualifies as a "consumer report" in such a way as [*23] to make possible a § 1681b(f)(1) claim, for two reasons. First, the information contained in the KLM Report appears not to have been information "bearing on a consumer's credit worthiness, credit standing, credit capacity, character, general reputation, personal characteristics, or mode of living" within the meaning of the statute. Second, Plaintiff has not sufficiently pled that the KLM Report was "expected to be used or collected in whole or in part" for any of the purposes enumerated in § 1681a(d)(1), has not pled that the Report was actually used for one of the purposes listed in § 1681a(d)(1)(A)-(B), and cannot base a § 1681b(f)(1)claim for acquisition of a consumer report without an authorized purpose on the proposition that the Report was a consumer report under § 1681a(d)(1)(C) by virtue of actually being "used" for an authorized purpose enumerated in § 1681b.

a. Information Bearing on Credit Worthiness, Character, Etc.

Plaintiff asserts that because it contains "details about the plaintiff's convictions for various motor vehicle offenses and the penalties that were imposed," the KLM Report (or rather the second portion of it) "plainly pertains to the plaintiff's **[*24]** 'character, general reputation and personal characteristics." (Pl. Mem. in Opp'n. to Defs. Mot. to Dismiss at 12.) Given the nature of the "convictions" and "penalties" at issue, however, this is not nearly so plain as Plaintiff contends. Neither speeding nor driving without a seatbelt is an offense that would commonly be described as reflecting upon one's moral character or reputation. And while "personal characteristics" is admittedly a rather vague term that could be read broadly, the authorities cited by Plaintiff with regard to its proper definition suggest that it describes issues of similar magnitude to character and reputation.

Plaintiff quotes the Federal Trade Commission (FTC) Official Commentary on the FCRA, 16 C.F.R. 600 App. at § 603(c)(4)(C) (2005), for the proposition that "motor vehicle reports 'are consumer reports when they are sold by a Department of Motor Vehicles for insurance underwriting purposes and contain information bearing on the consumer's 'personal characteristics,' such as arrest information." (Pl. Mem. in Opp'n to Defs. Mot. to Dismiss at 12-13.) Notwithstanding Atwater v. City of Lago Vista, 532 U.S. 318, 323, 149 L. Ed. 2d 549, 121 S. Ct. 1536 (2001) (holding that [*25] the Constitution does not "forbid[] a warrantless arrest for a minor criminal offense, such as a misdemeanor seatbelt violation punishable only by a fine"), a record stating that one was fined \$ 60 and \$ 40 respectively for speeding and driving without a seatbelt is not the same thing as "arrest information." There is no indication in the KLM Report that Plaintiff was arrested for any offense, or otherwise treated in a manner that would indicate suspicion of conduct warranting an analogous level of societal disapproval.

Plaintiff also cites *Porter v. Talbot Perkins Children's Services, 355 F. Supp. 174, 177 (S.D.N.Y. 1973)*, which quotes FTC commentary on the FCRA that even more strongly indicates "personal characteristics" to concern items of greater significance than those involved here. The commentary quoted in Porter is as follows:

> It is quite common for certain businesses such as insurance companies to request reports on a prospective (or current) insured from various State Departments of Motor Vehicles. These reports are sold to such companies and generally reveal a consumer's entire driving record, including arrests for speeding, drunk driving, [*26] involuntary manslaughter, etc.

> It is the Commission's view that, under the circumstances in which such a State motor vehicle report contains information which bears on the 'personal characteristics' of the consumer (i.e., when the report refers to an arrest for drunk driving), such

Page 8

reports sold by a Department of Motor Vehicles are 'consumer reports' and the agency is a 'consumer reporting agency' when it sells such reports.

355 F. Supp. at 177 (quoting 4 CCH Consumer Credit Guide P11,354 (1971)). This suggests that a motor vehicle report is a "consumer report" bearing on "personal characteristics" only in cases such as those "when the report refers to an arrest for drunk driving," as opposed to those in which a report refers to a less serious offense such as "speeding." While the implication that the FTC in 1971 contemplated the possibility of "arrests for speeding" might weigh in favor of an interpretation of the modern FTC Commentary as including speeding convictions within the concept of an "arrest record" that is said to bear on "personal characteristics," see 16 C.F.R. 600 App. at § 603(c)(4)(C), the Porter quotation on balance cuts against [*27] the notion that a record of convictions for speeding and driving without a seatbelt is information "bearing on a consumer's credit worthiness, credit standing, credit capacity, character, general reputation, personal characteristics, or mode of living," 15 U.S.C.A. § 1681a(d)(1).

b. Use, Expected Use, or Collection for an Enumerated Purpose

Whether or not the information in the KLM Report was information bearing on Manso's "credit worthiness, credit standing, credit capacity, character, general reputation, personal characteristics, or mode of living," it could only have been a "consumer report" as that term is defined in § 1681a if it were "used or expected to be used or collected in whole or in part for" any of the purposes enumerated in § 1681a(d)(1). 15 U.S.C.S. § 1681a(d)(1) (2005). The Complaint does not clearly allege that the KLM Report was "expected to be used or collected" for an enumerated purpose; the Complaint certainly does not allege that the KLM Report was actually used for a credit, insurance or employment purpose covered by § 1681a(d)(1)(A)-(B); and the Complaint must necessarily rely on the theory that the [*28] Report was not actually used for a purpose authorized by § 1681b and thus covered by § 1681a(d)(1)(C).

In analyzing the purposes for which the KLM Report was "used or expected to be used or collected," 15 $U.S.C.S. \ \S \ 1681a(d)(1)$, it is important to note that the Complaint alleges the information contained in the Report to have been "obtained by KLM on the defendants' behalf from the DMV." (Compl. P12.) That is, KLM is alleged to have acted in effect as Defendants' agent, to have served as a mere conduit by way of which Defendants acquired the information contained in the KLM Report from the DMV. Therefore, the only purposes for which KLM can be said to have collected the information contained in the Report, besides the obvious purpose of selling the Report to the Defendants, would be purposes attributable to the Defendants and thus to KLM on an agency theory. And the only purposes for which KLM can be said to have expected the information in the Report to be used are those purposes for which it expected Defendants themselves to use the Report.

The KLM Report differs significantly in this sense from the sort of credit report that would typically be subject [*29] to the FCRA. When a credit reporting agency obtains data from many different sources in order to distribute it to many different clients, the information in its files has been collected for purposes beyond those of any particular single client. See, e.g., *Trans Union Corp. v. FTC, 221 F.3d 228, 229 (D.C. Cir. 1996)* ("Trans Union is a consumer reporting agency that collects and resells data about the credit and payment patterns of over a hundred million Americans. Typical buyers of this information are firms considering extending some kind of credit to the consumers about whom they inquire."). In such a case,

> even if a report is used or expected to be used for a non-consumer purpose, it may still fall within the definition of a consumer report if it contains information that was originally collected by a consumer reporting agency with the expectation that it would be used for a consumer purpose.

Ippolito v. WNS, Inc., 864 F.2d 440, 453 (7th Cir. 1988); accord Boothe v. T.R.W. Credit Data, 523 F. Supp. 631, 634 (S.D.N.Y. 1981) ("if the report was collected for one of the purposes listed in section 1681a(d), it is a consumer [*30] report, regardless of the reason for which it is subsequently disseminated."). In Ali v. Vikar Management Ltd., 994 F. Supp. 492 (S.D.N.Y. 1998), frequently cited by Plaintiff, the report at issue was a "credit report," 994 F. Supp. at 495, and the statement that "the purpose for which the report is ultimately used is not relevant to the question of whether the report is a

Page 9

'consumer report'," 994 F. Supp. at 497, was made in this context. Here, as the Complaint describes KLM's role, there can be no such distinction between expected purposes during collection and the ultimate actual and expected use--or at least there can be no such distinction with respect to *KLM's* collection of the data contained in the Report. The DMV's collection of that same data can be ignored for these purposes since the DMV is not alleged to be a "consumer reporting agency" as that term is defined in the FCRA, and nothing else is alleged regarding the purposes for which it collected the data ultimately contained in the KLM Report.

Of the three ways in which a purported consumer report can ordinarily meet the definitional requirement that it be "used or expected [*31] to be used or collected in whole or in part" for a § 1681a enumerated purpose, therefore, it is apparent that two are unavailable to Plaintiff. The theory of the Complaint is necessarily that Defendants did not use the KLM Report for a purpose authorized in § 1681b and thus covered by § 1681a(d)(1)(C), since if they had done so there could be no claim under § 1681b(f)(1); the Defendants are also not alleged to have used the KLM Report as "a factor in establishing the consumer's eligibility for... credit or insurance to be used primarily for personal, family, or household purposes... [or for] employment purposes," 15 U.S.C.S. § 1681a(d)(1)(A)-(B), so actual use for a purpose enumerated in § 1681a(d)(1) is not at issue. The information in the KLM Report was, as explained above, not collected for a purpose distinct from that for which the Report was ultimately used or expected to be used, so collection for a purpose enumerated in § 1681a(d)(1)cannot be an independent ground on which to declare the KLM Report a consumer report. Thus, the only way that the KLM Report or any portion of it could be a "consumer report" capable of giving rise to a § 1681b(f)(1) [*32] claim is if the KLM Report itself was expected to be used for a § 1681a(d)(1) enumerated purpose, such as a purpose authorized in § 1681b and thus covered by § 1681a(d)(1)(C). "If a consumer reporting agency provides a report based on the expectation that the report will be used for purposes permitted by the FCRA, then the report is a 'consumer report' under the FCRA." Popik v. Amer. Int'l Mortgage Co., 936 F. Supp. 173, 176 (S.D.N.Y. 1996); accord Heath v. Credit Bureau of Sheridan, Inc., 618 F.2d 693, 696 (10th Cir. 1980).

Plaintiff does allege that "in accessing, obtaining and

using [the second portion of the KLM Report], the defendants expressly or impliedly advised KLM that they had a 'permissible purpose' for doing so." (Compl. P15.) As the phrase quoted in that paragraph of the Complaint is not drawn from the language of the FCRA or otherwise defined, ⁵ however, the most reasonable interpretation of the paragraph is that it alleges Defendants advised KLM that they were accessing and using all portions of the KLM Report for some legally permissible purpose (as opposed to an illegal purpose). If the KLM Report were a credit report, [*33] and if Defendants lacked an FCRA-authorized purpose for accessing and using it, then the representation of permissible purpose alleged in paragraph 15 of the Complaint could have been a false statement violative of 15 U.S.C. § 1681q, under which Plaintiff also attempts to state a claim, see infra Part IV.B. But to rely on paragraph 15 for the proposition that the KLM Report was a credit report in the first instance, on the theory that KLM expected the Report to be used for a purpose enumerated in the FCRA because Defendants specifically claimed that they intended to use it for such a purpose, would be to read the allegation too broadly.

5 The quoted phrase may have been taken from *Ali v. Vikar Management Ltd., 994 F. Supp. at* 497. Ali not having been cited in the Complaint (as cases generally are not cited in complaints), however, the Defendants could have been expected to infer that the intended meaning of 'permissible purpose' was the precise meaning used in Ali, and the purpose of a complaint is to "provide the defendant with 'fair notice of what the plaintiff's claim is and the grounds upon which it rests," *Dura Pharms., Inc. v. Broudo, 161 L. Ed. 2d 577, 125 S. Ct. 1627, 1634, 544 U.S. 336 (2005)* (quoting *Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 47, 2 L. Ed. 2d 80, 78 S. Ct. 99 (1957)*), see infra.

[*34] A narrower reading of the Complaint in this respect is consistent with Plaintiff's argument in his Memorandum of Law that "the defendant could **only** have obtained the information from KLM by alleging that it intended to use it for insurance underwriting, or some other permissible purpose under § *1681b*, since that is the only procedure for which it could have lawfully obtained the report." (Pl. Mem. in Opp'n to Defs. Mot. to Dismiss at 18 [emphasis in original].) Plaintiff in effect assumes that the KLM Report would have been a consumer report

Page 10

regardless of the purpose for which it was requested or actually used, and concludes that Defendants must have asserted their purpose in requesting it to be one enumerated in the FCRA, because only such a purpose would render the acquisition of a consumer report permissible. Given the Court's holding that the KLM Report would only have been a consumer report in the first place if KLM had expected it to be used for an enumerated purpose, however, this argument becomes question-begging.

If Defendants did not assert that their purpose in obtaining the KLM Report was one enumerated [*35] in the FCRA, then the fact that KLM functioned as a mere conduit without an independent purpose for collecting the information in the Report implies that the Report, if it was not in fact used for an authorized purpose, was not a consumer report. In that case, there would have been no legal requirement that Defendants assert "a purpose for which [a] consumer report is authorized to be furnished under [§ 1681b]," 15 U.S.C.S. § 1681b(f), in order for their purpose in acquiring the KLM Report to have been legally permissible. Therefore, the allegation that Defendants asserted their acquisition of the Report to be for a permissible purpose, properly understood, does not suffice to establish that the KLM Report was expected to be used for a purpose enumerated in the FCRA and was thus a credit report capable of giving rise to liability under § 1681b(f). ⁶

6 The letter from KLM attached as Exhibit A to Defendants' Reply Affirmation, which appears to indicate that KLM did not believe the KLM Report to be a consumer report and thus implies that KLM probably did not expect the Report to be used for a purpose enumerated in the FCRA, is not properly before the Court on a *Rule 12(b)(6)* motion and is not considered here.

[*36] Admittedly, in the paragraph of the Complaint following the general allegation that "the defendants expressly or impliedly advised KLM that they had a 'permissible purpose' for [obtaining the second portion of the KLM Report]" (Compl. P15), Plaintiff does allege that "the defendants accessed, obtained and used such information without having a permissible purpose for doing so, as required by 15 U.S.C. § 1681b and [N.Y.] *GBL* § 380-b." (Compl. P16.) Plaintiff also alleges later in the Complaint that Defendants "violated 15 U.S.C. §

1681b by [negligently or willfully] obtaining a consumer report pertaining to the plaintiff without a permissible purpose." (Compl. PP25, 29.) But to get from this use of the same undefined phrase in multiple paragraphs of the Complaint, to the conclusion that KLM is alleged to have specifically expected the Report to be used for an authorized purpose enumerated in the FCRA, one must pile inference on top of tenuous inference to an unreasonable degree. The Supreme Court has recently reminded us that while "the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure require only 'a short and plain statement of the claim showing [*37] that the pleader is entitled to relief ... the 'short and plain statement' must provide the defendant with 'fair notice of what the plaintiff's claim is and the grounds upon which it rests." Dura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. v. Broudo, 125 S. Ct. 1627, 1634 (2005) (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2) and Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 47, 2 L. Ed. 2d 80, 78 S. Ct. 99 (1957)). The Complaint in this case does not provide sufficiently clear notice that the ground upon which Plaintiff's § 1681b claims rest is an alleged specific expectation by KLM that the KLM Report would be used for a purpose explicitly authorized in the FCRA.

c. General Allegation of Consumer Report Status

The Complaint does allege that "the 'activity' section of the report [obtained by Defendants from KLM] is a 'consumer report' as that term is defined by 15 $U[.]S[.]C[.] \ 1681a(d)$." (Compl. P14.) The Second Circuit has cautioned, however, that "bald assertions and conclusions of law will not suffice" to survive a *Rule* 12(b)(6) motion. *Leeds v. Meltz*, 85 F.3d 51, 53 (2d Cir. 1996). Plaintiff's bald assertion that some portion of the KLM Report [*38] was "a 'consumer report' as that term is defined by 15 U[.]S[.]C[.] § 1681a(d)" (Compl. P14) is insufficient to establish, even for purposes of this motion, that the KLM Report actually was a consumer report capable of giving rise to a § 1681b(f)(1) claim.

2. Defendants' Authorized Purpose for Obtaining and Using the Report

Assuming *arguendo* that the KLM Report or some portion of it was in fact a "consumer report" in a sense capable of giving rise to a § 1681b(f)(1) claim, the use to which the KLM Report was put by the Defendants would be permissible under 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(a)(3)(D). That subsection allows a consumer report to be furnished to a person who "intends to use the information in connection with a determination of the consumer's eligibility for a

Page 11

license or other benefit granted by a governmental instrumentality required by law to consider an applicant's financial responsibility or status." *15 U.S.C.S.* § 1681b(a)(3)(D) (2005).

Defendants' acquisition and use of the KLM Report fits within the plain text of this statutory description: they "used the information in connection with a determination of the [*39] consumer's eligibility for a... benefit granted by a governmental instrumentality required by law to consider an applicant's... status." Plaintiff claimed in the holdover proceeding before Housing Part F of the Civil Court of the City of New York that he was "entitled to Rent Stabilization protection." (Def. Notice of Mot., Ex. C, Manso Aff. at P9.) Rent Stabilization protection can quite naturally be described as a "benefit," and the Housing Part of the Civil Court of the City of New York is a "governmental instrumentality" that was required to consider Plaintiff's "status" to determine whether he was eligible to continue to be granted that benefit. The Housing Court litigation can therefore be characterized as "a determination of the consumer's eligibility for a... benefit granted by a governmental instrumentality required by law to consider an applicant's... status," 15 $U.S.C.S. \ \S \ 1681b(a)(3)(D).$

The test of 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(a)(3)(D) thus reduces here to the same test as was applicable under the relevant portion of 18 U.S.C. § 2721(b)(4), the litigation exception to the DPPA: Defendants' actions were permissible [*40] if they used the information in the KLM Report "in connection with" the Housing Court litigation. As previously explained, see supra Part III, the only purpose for which Defendants are alleged to have obtained and used the KLM Report qualifies as a use "in connection with" the Housing Court litigation. Thus, even on the assumption that the KLM Report or some portion of it was indeed a consumer report, Plaintiff does not state a claim under § 1681b because his allegations imply that "the consumer report was obtained for a purpose for which the consumer report is authorized to be furnished under [§ 1681b]," 15 U.S.C.S. § 1681b(f)(1).

There is little case law applying § 1681b(a)(3)(D), and none indicates definitively that this textual approach to interpretation of it is erroneous. Ali v. Vikar Management appears to come closest to doing so: the Court there declared, in finding a landlord who had requested a credit report on a rent-stabilized tenant to have violated the FCRA, that "subsection [(D)] has no applicability to this case and defendants' reliance on it is completely misplaced." 994 F. Supp. at 500. In Ali, however, [*41] there was no litigation underway at the time of the landlord's request that could have been characterized as "a determination of the consumer's eligibility for a... benefit granted by a governmental instrumentality required by law to consider an applicant's... status," § 1681b(a)(3)(D). A holdover petition was eventually brought against the tenant whose credit report had been accessed, but this occurred more then ten and a half months later. See 994 F. Supp. at 495-96.

Section 1681b(a)(3)(D) does not include a provision analogous to that in 18 U.S.C. § 2721(b)(4) allowing use of information during "investigation in anticipation of litigation"--there is no authorization to acquire a consumer report for investigation in anticipation of "a determination of the consumer's eligibility for a license or other benefit granted by a governmental instrumentality required by law to consider an applicant's financial responsibility or status." Given the absence of such a provision, there is a significant distinction between obtaining a consumer report when the "determination" referred to by § 1681b(a)(3)(D) is already underway and in order to refute [*42] a contention made by the "applicant," as is alleged to have been done in this case, and obtaining a consumer report when no such determination is underway and none is even commenced for more than ten months thereafter. To the extent thatAli may suggest that § 1681b(a)(3)(D) would be inapplicable to acquisition of a consumer report in the former situation as well as the latter, we will not follow it.

The FTC Commentary on the FCRA states that "any party charged by law (including a rule or regulation having the force of law) with responsibility for assessing the consumer's eligibility for the benefit (not only the agency directly responsible for administering the benefit) has a permissible purpose to receive a consumer report," 16 C.F.R. 600 App. at § 604(3)(D)(1) (2005), but also contends that "parties not charged with the responsibility of determining a consumer's eligibility for a license or other benefit, for example, a party competing for an FCC radio station construction permit, would not have a permissible purpose to obtain a consumer report on that consumer," 16 C.F.R. 600 App. at § 604(3)(D)(2). Where the "governmental instrumentality" charged with responsibility for [*43] assessing eligibility for the benefit in question is a court, however, it is problematic

Page 12

to distinguish between reception of a consumer report by the court itself, and reception of the consumer report by a party who wishes only to deliver it to the court. In our legal system, courts do not go out and obtain evidence on their own; it is brought to them by parties. Thus, where the sole alleged purpose for the acquisition of a consumer report is its delivery to the responsible court, the logic of the FTC Commentary does not imply that the acquisition should be deemed impermissible simply because a litigating party is involved.⁷

7 The FTC Commentary "does not have the force or effect of regulations or statutory provisions," 16 C.F.R. 600 App. at P1. It is at most entitled to "respect according to its persuasiveness" under *United States v. Mead*, 533 U.S. 218, 221, 150 L. Ed. 2d 292, 121 S. Ct. 2164 (2001), and Skidmore v. Swift & Co., 323 U.S. 134, 89 L. Ed. 124, 65 S. Ct. 161 (1944), and thus need not be followed beyond the point at which its logic would cease to be persuasive.

[*44] Neither Ali nor the FTC Commentary provide sufficient reason to depart from the result indicated by the text of § 1681b(a)(3)(D). "Statutory construction begins with the plain text and, if that text is unambiguous, it usually ends there as well." United States v. Gayle, 342 F.3d 89, 92 (2d Cir. 2003); accord BedRoc Ltd., LLC v. United States, 541 U.S. 176, 183, 158 L. Ed. 2d 338, 124 S. Ct. 1587 (2004) ("The preeminent canon of statutory interpretation requires us to presume that [the] legislature says in a statute what it means and means in a statute what it says there. Thus, our inquiry begins with the statutory text, and ends there as well if the text is unambiguous.") (citation omitted). According to the plain text of § 1681b(a)(3)(D), the KLM Report is alleged to have been "obtained for a purpose for which [a] consumer report is authorized to be furnished," 15 U.S.C.S. § 1681b(f)(1).

One could perhaps argue that the text of § 1681b(a)(3)(D) is ambiguous, but only by following a line of reasoning that would also lead to the conclusion that the KLM Report was not a "consumer report" at all and therefore could permissibly be used for a purpose not enumerated [*45] in § 1681b. The reference in § 1681b(a)(3)(D) to "a governmental instrumentality required by law to consider an applicant's financial responsibility or status" could be construed as referring to a government instrumentality required by law to consider

an applicant's financial responsibility or *financial* status--that is, "financial" could be considered to modify both "responsibility" and "status." This construction, however, could not reasonably coexist with the broad interpretation of the term "personal characteristics" in 15 $U.S.C. \$ 1681a(d)(1) that is necessary in order for Plaintiff's driver record to be considered a consumer report. Combining a narrow interpretation of 1681b(a)(3)(D) with a broad interpretation of 1681a(d)(1) would lead to absurd results.

If only information that in some sense bears on one's ability to repay debts is covered by the FCRA's restrictions, then it could make sense to limit even official use of FCRA-covered information to cases in which an evaluation of financially-related status is required. If a broad range of personal information including one's driving record is covered, however, then the FCRA cannot be meant [*46] to forbid a governmental instrumentality from having access to such information in the course of determining an applicant's eligibility for a license or benefit, simply because the aspect of the applicant's "status" that is relevant to that determination is not a financial one. Otherwise, a state DMV could violate the FCRA by obtaining the driving record of an applicant from another state who wanted a license to operate dangerous commercial vehicles. That is not a result that Congress is likely to have intended.

To the extent that § 1681b(a)(3)(D), like § 1681a(d)(1), is ambiguous, this case is controlled by two well-established canons of statutory interpretation: the rule that "when determining which reasonable meaning should prevail, the text should be placed in the context of the entire statutory structure," Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc. v. Muszynski, 268 F.3d 91 (2d Cir. 2001), and the rule that "absurd results are to be avoided and internal inconsistencies in the statute must be dealt with," id. (quoting United States v. Turkette, 452 U.S. 576, 580, 69 L. Ed. 2d 246, 101 S. Ct. 2524 (1981)). Avoiding absurd results in the context of the entire statutory structure [*47] requires that Plaintiff cannot simultaneously prevail on both the question of how § 1681a(d)(1) should be interpreted and the question of how § 1681b(a)(3)(D) should be interpreted. If the coverage of the FCRA is construed broadly, the KLM Report is a consumer report under § 1681a(d)(1), but Defendants' alleged use of the KLM Report is an authorized purpose under § 1681b(a)(3)(D). If the coverage of the FCRA is interpreted narrowly, so as to

Page 13

2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 7316, *47

limit § 1681b(a)(3)(D) to applications with respect to which a consumer's *financial* status must be considered, then driver records such as Plaintiff's must be outside the scope of § 1681a(d)(1), with the result that the KLM Report was not a consumer report at all. Either way, both of Plaintiff's claims under § 1681b must be dismissed.

B. 15 U.S.C. § 1681q

Although 15 U.S.C. § 1681q is a criminal prohibition that does not explicitly grant a private right of action, Plaintiff may nevertheless bring suit for an alleged violation of it under the private right of action contained in § 1681n. Northrop v. Hoffman of Simsbury, 134 F.3d 41 (2d Cir. 1997). Section 1681q [*48] is violated by "any person who knowingly and willfully obtains information on a consumer from a consumer reporting agency under false pretenses," 15 U.S.C.S. § 1681q (2005). However, despite alleging in the Complaint that "in accessing such information, the defendants acted knowingly and willfully and under false pretenses" (Compl. P17), Plaintiff has not stated a claim for violation of § 1681q under Second Circuit precedent.

The Second Circuit has held that "[a] person cannot obtain information to which he has a right under false pretenses." Scott v. Real Estate Fin. Group, 183 F.3d 97, 100 (2d Cir. 1999). Even if the Defendants had made false statements to KLM during the process of acquiring the KLM Report, they would be protected by the rule that "a report requester does not violate Section 1681q by giving a false reason for its request if it has an independent legitimate basis for requesting the report." Scott, 183 F.3d at 99. As discussed above, Defendants had at least one independent legitimate basis for requesting the KLM Report, and likely two: they were entitled to it under 18 U.S.C. § 2721 [*49] (b)(4), see supra Part III, and also entitled to it under 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(a)(3)(D) unless it was not a consumer report at all, see supra Part IV.A.2. Scott therefore prevents Plaintiff from stating a claim under § 1681q.

V. Claims Under New York Fair Credit Reporting Act

In their motion papers, Defendants have not addressed the merits of Plaintiff's NYCRA claims. Rather, they have stated simply that because no federal statutes are properly involved in this case, the state-law claims must be dismissed for lack of federal jurisdiction. 8 It is not strictly true that the Court inevitably lacks supplemental jurisdiction over the state-law claims once the federal claims are dismissed under Rule 12(b)(6), as a dismissal pursuant to that Rule does not implicate the Court's original subject matter jurisdiction over the federal claims. However, having "dismissed all claims over which it has original jurisdiction," 28 U.S.C.S. § 1367(c)(3) (2005), and having done so well in advance of trial, the Court declines to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff's state-law claims. See Marcus v. AT&T Corp., 138 F.3d 46, 57 (2d Cir. 1998) [*50] ("In general, where the federal claims are dismissed before trial, the state claims should be dismissed as well.").

> 8 This argument was first made clearly in Defendants' Reply, but the logic behind the usual rule against considering arguments made for the first time in reply briefs does not apply when the party against whom the argument is made submits two subsequent sur-reply letter briefs after oral argument, as Plaintiff did in this case. In any event, issues pertaining to the Court's subject-matter jurisdiction must be addressed even if not raised by the parties.

VI. Conclusion

For the reasons stated above, Defendants' motion to dismiss the Complaint is GRANTED. Plaintiff's claims under the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq., and the Driver's Privacy Protection Act, 18 U.S.C. § 2721 et seq., are DISMISSED. The Court declines to exercise jurisdiction over the remaining state-law claims, which are DISMISSED without prejudice. The Clerk [*51] of the Court is directed to close this case.

SO ORDERED.

Dated: New York, New York April 26, 2005 Leonard B. Sand U.S.D.J.